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1. LICENSEE 2 REGIONAL OFFICE

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATCRY COMMISSION

Syncor International Corp.
(Diagnostic Management Inc.)
2233 University Avenue Sui
St. Paul, MN 55114

te 220

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
REGION ITI

799 ROOSEVELT ROAD

GLEN ELLYN, ILLINOIS 60137

3. COCKET NUMBER(S)

030 - 17084

4 LICENSE NUMBER(S)

5. DATE OF INSPECTION

22 - 19174 - 01MD

July 18, 1985

Licensee

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commissions (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures

and representative records, interviews, with personnel, and coservations by the inspector. The findings as a result of this inspection are as follows:

| 1. Within the scope of this inspection, nc violations were observed

Z I 2. The inspector also verified the steps you have taken to correct the violations identified during the last inspection. We have no further questions on

those actions at this time.

X | 3. During this inspection certain of your activities, as checked below, were in violation of NRC requirements.
THIS IS A NOTICE OF VIOLATION which is required to be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 19 11

O
ofa

was not properly posted to indicate the presence
10 CFR 20.203(b), (¢}, (d), {e) or 34.42.

were not properly

8. Containers located in __
labeled to indicate the presence of radioactive material. 10 CFR 20.203(f)(1), or (f)(2).

e of sealed sources were not performed at the proper

License Condition Number

frequencies. 10 CFR

[xJo Records of _dose calibrator geometry tests

were not properly maintained.

or License Condition Number _ 23

I .l E. Documents were not properly posted or otherwise made available. 10 CFR 19.11.

__ were not made in accordance

F. Reports or notifications of
with 10 CFR

E{]rt__ngnnzdn_nt_!ahic1cM:nnLa-inALinn_suz:z;smpezto:ncd_on~dalivas;_au:o-olilca—uono—uo&-

adequately maintained. License condition No. 22

[:]L

or License Condition Number

[:]J

k-

8508070524 850718
REG3 LIC30
22-19174-01MD PDR

| hereby state that within 30 days the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identifiea in the items checked above
No further response will be submitted unless required by

This statement of corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2 201
the NRC

Rk 1k

L DATE '

NS
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1. LICENSEE 2 REGIONAL OFFICE

Syncor International Corp.

v gl . . Tme.) gEélo:U%?R REGULATORY COMMISSION

2233 University Avenue Suite 220 799 ROOSEVELT ROAD

St. Poul, W st GLEN ELLYN, ILLINOIS 60137
3 DOCKET NUMBERI(S) 4 LICENSE NUMBERI(S) 5. DATE OF INSPECTION

030 - 17084 22 - 19174 - 01MD July 18, 1985
Licensee

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commissions INRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures
and representative records, interviews, with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The findings as a result of this inspection are as follows

l 1. Within the scope of this inspection, no violations were observed

Z l 2. The inspector also verified the steps you have taken to correct the violations identified during the last inspecticn. We have no further guestions on
those actions at this time

X I 3. During this inspection certain of your activities as checked below, were in violation of NRC requirements
THIS IS A NOTICE OF VIOLATION which is required to be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 1911

DA. was not properly posted to indicate the presence
ofa 10 CFR 20.203(b), (¢}, (d' (e) or 34 42.

D B. Containers located in were not properly
Iabeled to indicate the presence of radioactive material. 10 CFR 20.203(f)(1), or (f)(2)

D C. of sealed sources were not performed at the proper
frequencies 10 CFR License Condition Number

[xXJo Recoras of _dose calibrator geometry tests were not properly maintained
R

or License Condition Number _ 22

D E. Documents were not properly posted or otherwise made available. 10 CFR 18.11.

F.Reports or notifications of were not made 1n accordance
with 10 CFR or License Condition Number

H . . . -
adequately maintained. License condition No. 22

| hereby state that within 30 days the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified in the items ¢ 2 xed above
This statement of corrective actions Is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2 201. No further response will be submitted unless required by
the NRC

7/i%
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DRAFT
Module No. 7€710B

REGION III
NUCLEAR MATERIALS SAFETY SECTION
MEDICAL INSPECTION REPORT

Inspectior Report No. gs ool

Licensee (Name and address)

Daanostic f"\’&r\a«;q‘r\(’r\\’ Inc ( Syncor (»-t[’)
L | g v

_1333 Universitd Avenve
Suike 220 .
St. Pavul MN Ssi1tY

Licensee Contact: Davi&d Zio\kowsky Telephone No. 13/ 9% - 3000

License No. 223-191174-0] MD Docket No. ©030-j1708 Y
Last Amendment No. Ol Date of Amendment: /2/30/33
l”hategory: 51 Priority: 11

Date of Inspection: Touly 1% 19§85

Type of Inspection: ( ) An;Lunced ( 4Y Unannounced ( ) Normal
( ) Initial ( ) Special (#7) Reinspection

Next Inspection: 0787 ( ) Reduced ( ) Extended

Program Codes: ( ) 02110 - Broad ( ) 02120 - Group ( ) 02121 - Non-Group
( )402200 - Pv.Prac. ( ) 02210 - Eve App.
( )}02201

( ) 02220 - VAN (~) 02500 - Pharmacy ( ) Other

Summary of Findings and Action:
( ) No Noncompliance, Clear 591 iscued ( ) Action on Previous N,
() Norcompliance, 591 issued () Regional Action

() Noncompliance, Appendix A ( ) Ha Actior

Rev. 08/01/84
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1.  INSPECTION HISTORY

Item(s) of noncompliance or deviations noted during last inspection
SS9

corducted on: )1 /29 %3 («) Yes ( ) No. Reporse letter dtd

b. Corrective Actior Taken Status

Pequirement Tvpe of N/C (&) Yes ( ) No Open( Closed
s, M i ~

/ Legic tests

inoperable survey [nstrument
» J

If any item(s) of noncompliance or deviations noted during last

inspection were not corrected, explain:

2. ORGANIZATION

a. Administrative structure meets License requirements: ( “J Yes ( ) Nc
fL/C)
Frank Comey - Corporate RSO

/ David Ziolkowski RPh - RSO, FManaqey

Creve Piepenbrink, RPh ~ Asst Manager
Johhn V\QQ‘L'&PB\

* Attended Management close-out meeting

2 Rev. 08/01/84
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b. , Use by authorized individuals: (") Yes ( ) No

/ [L/C]

One ndividual \ysted on Syuncory masder license 'l\f‘f"(lhﬁq"’""lﬂ
L]

must be vhusically pPresent when materia) s used.
Al v L' L 3

ZLO\LQW')K\Lr'(g("\br\n\l. t Filace are oh dhe license Une

ek these dPhvree are A Ahe b%rm';ul whehever Matoral 19 vied
¢. Isotope Committee meets at required irtervals? ( ) Yes ( ) No ( cont al?)
fL/ch
NI

d. Record of Committee meetinas: ( ) Yes ( ) No

(L/C]
N[

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM

DML { now known s Suncor] provides npuclear Ph‘arth
1 y -

for Yhe Tw.n C.frec Area. Jb client hosptals

\*."( LIRS FS

0 P -~ (
dnd about 25 pyher pusinecses \iabs phasicrng f“)

-~ F e N - n
Aare sevved at pyesent ~ 3300 dosesy are Prepared
) ! 4

,hg.\¥h\'~‘

INTERNAL AUDITS OP INSPECTIONS

e
7

a. Required by License Condition: ( ) Yes ( ") No
b. Audits or Inspections conducted: () Yes ( ) No
f/c?

Guarbteriy 3udt by Suncer health :‘;L\il\\k‘kt
¥ 3 t !

3 Rev. 08/01/84
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c. Pecords maintained: ( “) Yes ( ) No

[L/C]

5. TRAINING, RETRAIMING AND INSTRUCTION TO WORKERS

a. Training program required by License Condition: ( <) Yes ( ) No
b. Trainina program implemented: (.) Yes ( ) No

fL/c)

Thoe@vrvice

¢. Retraining proaram required by Licence Condition: ( ,) Yes ( ) No
d. Retrainina procram implemented: (z’) Yes ( ) Ne

fL/cl

l\y\ﬂu‘.s\ Ve kl‘\lv\\r\‘L
[

e. Instruction to workers in accerd with 10 CFR 19,12: ( ) Yes ( ) No

/ rie.12]
h i instrycted Fhe PSO to pevieaw Lioced vics W itk

s+ aty 2l de¥ Crem ationg wheve Adecqyel waste
> . 4

1 & * A L@ * De Q'—\Q tNnNeyxy :\”C(‘ _ ‘\ }\ © n( \'\(‘ ‘* < '-)C
cV\QZr)V‘”\rr‘; -‘1' n»‘[’»lka CE ek NsSvrrng Y=t \avelied& yoalyg @

Avr € |~.’.;f1«{1r‘. 1 inecinerqated

6. RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION PROCEDURES ' "4 %"

/
/
4
/

a. Procedure referenced in License Condition: (/) Yes ( ) No

4 Rev., 08/01/84
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b. Use in accordance with referenced procedure: ( V‘ Yes ( ) No

[L/c]
’H%Av\nw1~s labelel pricr 4o Sdiyna
L ] v d

Suring e £ vial Q_,V\te’[é.3 used
J N ’

/
¢. Individual's understanding of procedures adequate: ( /) Yes ( ) No

MATERIALS, FACILITIES AND TNSTRUMENTS

a. Facilities as described in License Applicaticn: () Yes ( ) ho

fL/c?
/ 2233 Unmversidy L Weyght B\dq} S NCE A wmadgs
v J 4]
Peceg tionist 1§ ho \onger emplowed , enter the
CacliFa Vis lea®@ na Ydeck , v
b. Isotope, chémical form, quantity and use as authorized: ( ) Yes ( ) No
fL/c?
The \icenies (,‘\\"T\h\,‘('} $e :.\t‘.& sSouictes { ¢ l\-bl'l?lr)n‘)
Lsed& asfvlvt’\t\.‘rl - iod\ne dwuses, Yencn Unit dojes g 12 Av,es,
Qs well as gther l‘\(c'\:y”\%r‘mlgeLtct Wy

c. Tests required by License Condition or Regulations
(1) Molybdenum-99 breakthrough: ( ) Yes ( ) No
(2) Performed as reauired: () Yes ( ) No
[L/C and/or 35.14(b)(4)i11)

Ewen eloYion

/ Aiymina breskcthovgh alse pPertormed

(3) Leak tests: (.Y Yes ( ) No

5 Rev. 08/01/84
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(4) Leak tests performed as reaquired: ( ¢) Yes ( ) No
[L/€) [35.14(b)(5)(i) or 35.14(e)(1)(i)]

Semiannvalln o Peviormeld on 1n heuse stand Ard;
v

'AV\(& oYhey Sources read 4 ‘or ,*\‘;H’\buf'ur\

v
l.\v (ﬂ'»‘»’d( {-‘:. ’v\o'\lh ' ,‘»\(fs. ,q b\:.-\ T g S'ft"‘(’g(’
Courtes Scold monthi

(5) Other tests required:

Inventory of sealed sources
(1) Inventory of Group VI sources: ( ) Yes ( ) No
[35.14(b)(5)(v)?
MR

(2) Inventory of calibration sources: (L) Yes ( ) No
[35.14(F)(2)]

(omputerited nventory .
¥ v

Storage of radioactive materials
(1) Method used to prevent an unauthorized individual from entering
a restricted area is adeauate: (v) Yes ( ) No

D\\\g’xui (\.‘-\'(‘\;i- P»,‘kk) l"\’(\‘(’r\i\‘ ‘h'f‘\-"-ih ‘\

T ' T

WA || dosr Wwhich lt"ltJ‘\. 4LJIG~’;1‘«‘-& Jh‘( ¥l
R"I\bv‘m " ( &‘
(2) Radioactive material secured to prevent unauthorized removal from

an unrestricted area: (/’5 Yes ( ) No

'oC"— €L

[20.207) Marerials secured n Fear fronks with straps

6 Rev, 08/01/84
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f. Instrumentation
(1) Operable survey instruments as described or eouivalent to those
described in License Application: ( #) Yee ( ) No
fL/c

L.u()';-..:M S‘.l 14 C L1

(2) Capability of radiation survey instruments adequate for proaram
() Yes ( ) Mo

Sury A _gnstrument carrsed n each vehucle
v

(3) Calibration of survev instruments required: (t¢Y Yes ( ) No
(4) Performed as required: ( <Y Yes ( ) No
fL/C]

PAnnual Py Suncor-E£ansas Cy
i L L

*

(5) Dose calibrator checks required: () Yes ( ) Neo
(6) Performed as required: (. Yes ( ) No
L/C]

/ Datu constancy pertormeld but Net Always
L A

L L
pyyor Yo ASsA™aYying "™MOrhing Jou‘s RSO Stakes
+hat 2 a»‘-‘s\%rynvﬁrn I,»‘HUhe "er\wmc&; grtior
" " C ,‘ﬂ>' vk { viie
te anYy Aoses be A9} epuarel n the Sutuie Ciont W IQ)

8. RECEIPT AND TRANSFER OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL

Survey of incoming packages: ( .Y Yes ( ) No
[20.205(b)(1) or L/C)

All _cases 3rc v pPe A

-

A_‘.-( l" LY N 3

Rev, 0B/01/84
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Ve
”

b. Record of survey: () Yes ( ) No
[20.401(b)]

¢. Procedure for opening packages: [+ Yes ( ) No
[20,205(¢)?

v oo ,

Suryed At 3§+ ¢ sorbice . wipe test (dnalyae
r ’ 3 = T
AW (4 G " )
d. BPM transferred in accordance with 10 CFR 30.41: ( ,) Yes ( ) Mo
(30.41]

Customerp lhecenses on e AV\& i COmpUrer,

The current computer PLog (am feeds reyisjogn n t'v;}’
. = 4 a y

e. Records of receipt and transfer meintained: (., ) Yes ( ) No

4
o
+he (omp ey dllows d‘s?r_\gvbgn o&  all 1Sotopes
L
in A Qrovp even thovgh the customer m hot
he licensed te possess 2l of those I50tofes. Fer eXumple,

a hosf‘.f'\! }\.f‘"\)f‘z;( * ar 1 '3 h. pPerth r‘:‘((,l)m \4:\‘!;& b(
ive F=32 [\50 bhecase ¢ S pPart of Gro~rﬁ

Llow ed 40 (e
9. PERSONﬁEL RADIATION LPOYECT'ON = EXTERNAL even bhovgh 145 ot Avthoriveld

The RSO stated 4531 he waouid
nyve the ”r;.'lr‘,‘_\ u”d‘l\(d,

2. Film or TLD badoe supplier:__ |z £aver Frequency: lunbl:’

| b. Reports reviewed by: /Ny, o er Frequency: Ji1oath!
| ¢. NRC inspector reviewed perscrnel monitoring records for
|
period (53 to elsy
.
Todovdvals c{rew./».( Aoses wear weekl j TV r \rua §

8 Rev, 08/01/84
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NRC forms or equivalent

(1) NRC-4: ( ) Yes (*) No Complete: ( ) Yes ( ) Ne
(2) NRC-5: ( )Y Yes ( ) No Complete: ( ~) Yes ( ) No
[20.401(a))

No Qv(l‘e‘\f'»&v.‘l"\ ALCoy A ng te KSO

annud! .
Ma x imum qu&#%eriy whole body exposure: IS0 mrem
’ \JE\
Max imum adi;¥¥r1y extremity exposure: 19930 mrem

Licensee has implemented the ALARA program: ( «) Yes ( ) No

Radiation survey of unrestricted area: ( ) Yes (.) No
[20.201(b) to show compliance with 20.105(b)]

{
Le JzL'Jh;j77 i({’r() States that il delivery veh (leg
v

hl“ b(’ )Vrvg\a\f‘j ;{1)[\1‘ Thc A-'l"u{v‘d,.\‘l | N (#“QI-’Q.
g v

Record of survey maintained: ( ) Yes ( ) No (conT ®19 )

[20.401(b)]

P
=
-

{V\G SVIAJY ey j‘ikgv\_‘- L",(((- —\Lll yehnicle

+

S Jry f\'LS at J’j' €Sent
Radiation survey of use areas (hot lab, therapy treatment area,
patient's room, etc.): ( ;) Yes ( ) No

(L/¢)

- < Vv »
Dad% >ylVf'~% Lo OfF (Se Areds ~ 30 positiony

Tt

9 Rev, 0€/01/84
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k. Record of survey maintained: ( () Yes ( ) No

fL/c]

PERSONNEL RADIATION PROTECTION - INTERMAL

a. Potential for exposure of individuals to airborne radioactive
material exists: (-) Yes ( ) No

b. Monitoring for airborne radioactivity conducted: ( ) Yes ( #'Ne
[20.201(b) to show compliance with all sections of 20.103 or L/C]

o _Xe-133 and T-13i Vigud yeeewyel n unit

ch)"> %(9"\ "'\f’)l\v\u(' h\f\‘(‘Q() = Yy .\<S aAre "\O# bq{‘okt"r\

Put yials kKe@t 1n hood. Hood velocity s airflow
v S (h(ckc& 5r'.‘w\’\nﬂv‘?\r"' 4 !
¢. Records of monitoring maintained:” ( .} Yes ( ) No

[20.401(b) or L/C]

RADIOACTIVE EFFLUENT AND WASTE DISPOSAL

a. Radioactivity in effluents to unrestricted areas: ( ) Yes (") No
b. Release in accordance with regulatory limits: ( -) Yes ( ) No

[20.106(a)]

10 Rev. 08'01/84
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Solid waste disposal method: (S onevators o manmufackvrers

Odher wWwAaste 5:-‘~}('etvi'lf"'\!\ by h=a\$ life ang Ciw»i\?c[J
L L

Liquid waste disposal methed: < ame .

Disposal of solid and liquid waste in accordarce with regulatory

requirements (decay in storage): (1) Yes ( ) No

Records of disposal: ( ) Yes ( ) No
r30.511

Survey of waste prior to disposal: () Yes ( ) No

[20.201(b) to show compliance with 20.301]

_Onluy Adecrued \Surveyel ) waste goes to
1 - 7

Pet C(remations for fheinerytion.

Records of surveys maintained: (¢ Yes ( ) No

[20.401(b)]

11 kev. 08/01/84



12. NOTIFICATIONS

AND REPORTS

v

Licensge in compliance

( ) Yes

(

) No

DRAFT
Module Nn. 78710R

with 10 CFR 16,13 (Reports to individuals)
[10.13]

Licensee in compliance

( Y Yes

(

) No

with 10 CFR 2C.405 (Over exposures)
[20.405(a)7

Licensee in compliance

with §0 CFR 20.403 (Inciderts)

(“Y Yes ( ) No [20.403]
1l25]5Y vehiele accident Feviench) — nNo problem
1§
w i th 1So&cf(J

Licensee in compliance

() Yes

(

) No

with 10 CFR 20.402 (Theft or loss)
[20.402(2) or 20.402(b)?

Licensee in compliance

(“) Yes

(

) No

with 10 CFR 35.42 or 10 CFR 35,43 (Misacr,)
[35.42 or 35.43]

3 misakmnistrations dccvired in /93\/ all

whnere Jj;c to pharmacut €vrors Color coding
-~ - v

c ¥ V‘BI \t”,"&(l“ ” ol Simielxyp kKity In A s Frockéy

[ ) 0

",‘L(v € voes Nnave been € A tegh

12 Rev. 0&/01/84



DRAFT
Module No, 787108

13. POSTING OF NOTICES

Notices to workers posted: ( L%”Vés ( ) No
[19.11(a) or (b) 12.11(c)]

14, CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS

a. Independent measurements made by inspector: ( «) Yee ( ) No

b. Survey Instrument: Xedey, Jdos 8 NRC Ser. No.__ 1004

Last date of calibration: T’fx'& S

c. Describe type and results of measurements ard compare with

licensee's measurements: Soiyveu , Noe' lab < |0 rxli)h[
7 .
v SQltoyage < I.5 ,nl/hr qaAr»gel ot Syncory/
v J J v

opposte aenegrator room < 0.3 "\K/nz autside
Ty J

walls ¢ 0.2 mE[Ap

15, POSTING AND LABELING

Posting anc labeling in accordance with 10 CFR 20.203: ( 4 Yes ( ) No

20,2021
"' Cases Nave correct Tf‘a/\,!4~ pt labels
T T i 5 ¢ 'd'k-\,"«\\(tt. !’r;ut o Ar \y‘\J‘"\»lf
Cases Are C(oveyreld Lron reltve n o Suncop
1

12 Rev. 0€/01/84
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17.

DRAFT
Module No, 787108

LICENSE CONDITIONS

a. A1l License Conditions reviewed during inspection: ( ) Yes ( ) No
b. Activities were conducted in accordance with License Conditions

except as noted elsewhere in this report: ( <) Yes ( ) No

BULLETINS AMD CIRCULARS

a. Bulletins and Circulars issued during current year:
N

b. Bulletins and Circulars received by licensee: ( ) Yes ( ) No

¢. Licensee took appropriate action in response to Rulletins and

Circulars: ( ) Yes ( ) No

14 Rev., 0B/01/84




la.

TRANSPORTATION (10 CFR 71,5a and 49 CFR 171-178)

a. License makes shipments of RAM?

If no, check N/A and stop here:

If yes, complete tne following items:

b, Such shipments consist of:

() Radwaste

( Vﬁ/Sources/products

( ) Other

¢. For radwaste, shipments are:

() bv licensee, using commor carrier

() through Radwaste Broker

name of broker

d. Licersee is aware of 10 CFR €]

Racwaste requirements for generators?

Licensee has classified and characterized

his radwacte?

N/ A

DRAFT |
Module Mo, 787108

Yes N/A  Vio

(20.311(¢))

16

(5 () ()
(Y () ()
X () )

Rev, 08/01/84
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e. For shipments:
Licensee uses authorized packages? (173.415-16) () () ()
Package type used: D1 7-/%

. For DOT-7A, licensee has performance test records
on file? (173.415(a)) «y () ()
For special form sources, licensee has per-

formance test records on file for each source

desian? (173.476(a)) () )
Packages are properly labeled? (172,403 & ¢y )y ()
173.441) ,
Packages are properly marked? (172,300,172.301. (3 () ()
Proper shipping papers are propalrlzdjoq')
each shipment? (172,200,172.201,172.202, “y ) ()
Notes/Comments: 172.203(e))
/ ‘;h‘im"mé p\g’trs Qce (arciek oth ‘y\'g’miﬁu
jn_deliverd yencler, (vstomers Jpe "’”\U“\%(‘g

J :
do Wold Uhosed doses tntl actiy fuai s below

\\si'l?’& 1.«.§»\\|“ €8 .
U
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19. CONTINUATION OF REPORT ITEMS

2lb)  Pormallu  twoe Pharmacists ace on duty
Y = T
/ n_the '”UFYL\'\T?{ Ind one (n the aklerncsn.

One o3 the 2 s on cxll Auging o€ hours
!

I+ was C,\ron%l% suggested that an add (tional
uv
auj"\cr\gf&litf be added <o 4hat coverage
E

woll pe T[’(Q\z-)*ﬁ when the vse€yps a4y € 11\ oy

ol 2 ymtgjlun. Cne ‘\«whr'\u"ar\-g\itu‘tr‘ év\\(: 7

_‘\\"Lyels ]‘o\r\é cJUY The gﬁ'\\_g Thoe &,*V\u{lt(’é

| \ .
vysevys L L’\‘\lr“t’\kuﬂf' Al € Ahe only peogle H\'}{
= i

: P )
PI'L"'gk € Yadiopharm acevt tcalg 3 dos&s
T

7’_\‘1/\;\f‘) Line Arclyg tests done guarteriy N en
v T

- ' g >

qecvlracy ‘*"5*5 alsoe 1\-:\"*(’:"&(“-1\..4”0_‘. annvall )
g |8 J U 3
No records o4 geometry t4ests on  (apintec
¥

: J J
CRC and CRC-J2B Adose calibrators ayaglable

Le 22 Ll)‘.3g71¢(’ifg‘[)‘\he RSO statel Ythey wolld De

Y Aene (mmelliately

'Id\l 03 gu*.um\-m hose sycveds < tatel {hat vecods

¢J ,]»r m wain ]hff ;
ot o venhicles pre ¢ ¢ Aty T4 was
v

4L--%écx‘té‘ Yhat 3 ‘rlr P #“3/‘*M1"’;€ . gach

yfhicle & fhat 14 wou'd be pbyvious that

'L\.,Lut%; were pfeeled . The Pso < ai& fhat

hc !IV‘J, © ")'\ﬁ'\‘f‘&
Bk
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